

Draft Copy

Draft Copy

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PETITION
FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
AND WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
IN THE MATTER OF THE PETITION OF
RICHARD CASE WARDEN, et al.

(OR: RICHARD CASE WARDEN, A-83286-L)

RICHARD CASE WARDEN, et al.,
Petitioner,
vs.
WARDEN, U.S. MEDICAL CENTER,
U.S. FEDERAL PENITENTIARY,
LEAVENWORTH, KANSAS,
Respondent.

Civil Action No. _____
(OR: WARDEN, U.S. PENITENTIARY, LEAVENWORTH,
KANSAS, et al.,
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY GENERAL,
et al.)

WHERE the petitioner in the matter pending, and, by his own counsel, files a MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT of Petition For Writ Of Habeas Corpus, alleging generally and specifically as follows:

Petitioner was arrested at El Paso, Texas, on September 20, 1950, and charged by state authority with vagrancy, flight to avoid arrest, possession of armed robbery. He was booked and lodged in the El Paso City Jail where interrogation at the city's Federal Building by agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation,

FALSE STATEMENT ALLEGATION: That on September 20, 1950, while being transported by automobile from the State National Bank, El Paso, Texas, to the city's Federal Building, petitioner explained to Mr. Thomas H. White, Sr., a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, "I would rather be arrested than commit treason" or "I would rather be arrested than commit murder and treason"; that another Special Agent of the F.B.I. (not further identified) who was present in the automobile, asked petitioner what he meant; that petitioner did not then or thereafter answer his question; that petitioner's protest and the aforesaid question was heard by another person; that either statement by petitioner later developed into evidence against petitioner's defense against the crime for which he was indicted; that such evidence was obtained by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and suppressed by petitioner's court-appointed counsel, against petitioner, at both trials, on the merits and on appeal therefrom.

UNLAWFUL ASSAULT ALLEGATION: That petitioner, while confined in the El Paso City Jail, after being ordered to remove all his clothing and ordered inside a strip-cell, was abused by Mr. Pete Blanco and abused, threatened with bodily harm and assaulted by Mr. Carl D. Fortune, both officers of the El Paso Police Department; that such abuse, threat, and assault was without just cause or provocation and was witnessed by persons not herein identified; that shortly thereafter petitioner reported such abuse, threat and assault to a person not herein identified who investigated his complaint and found it to be fact; that petitioner was not permitted by his court-appointed counsel to raise the foregoing issue or subpoena witnesses in regard thereto, against petitioner, at either trial, on the merits or on appeal therefrom.

The next day, September 21, 1963, petitioner was transferred to the El Paso County Jail where he was booked and lodged. He was arraigned before a United States Commissioner under the bank robbery statute. He pleaded not guilty to the charge and waived a preliminary hearing. Bail was set at \$25,000.00. Petitioner failed to post bond and was remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. The state charges were eventually dropped.

THIRD SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That during an interview by F.B.I. Special Agent Thomas H. White, Jr., and the aforementioned unidentified F.B.I. Special Agent, held on September 21, 1963, Mr. White exclaimed to petitioner, "We don't think you tried to rob that bank either, but we want to know why you want yourself arrested," or words similar and to that effect; that such exclamation later developed into evidence, ~~presented~~ to petitioner's defense against the crime charged; that such evidence was withheld by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and suppressed by petitioner's court-appointed counsel, against petitioner's will, at both trials on the merits and on appeal therefrom.

Thereafter (exact date unknown), the United States District Court judge at El Paso, on the government's motion, directed that petitioner be given a mental examination by Dr. R. J. Bennett, an El Paso psychiatrist. On October 11, 1963, Dr. Bennett reported to the court that on two occasions he had attempted to examine petitioner, without success, because he was unwilling to furnish any information.

Thereafter (exact date unknown), petitioner wrote the court, stating, among other things, that he had always acted from love for his country and that his conduct in the bank had been predicated on such love, "however imprudent it may appear."

The court first appointed Mr. James E. Hammond of El Paso to represent petitioner. During a hearing held at petitioner's instance on November 4, 1963, petitioner informed the court he no longer desired the services of Mr. Hammond because he had disclosed some confidential information to the F.B.I. Mr. Hammond denied the charge, but was relieved as counsel.

At the same hearing, ^(NOVEMBER 4, 1963) petitioner, by hand-written application ~~to the court~~, requested habeas corpus in order to ascertain the particulars of the government's case against him, and to compensate for his waiver of a preliminary hearing. F.B.I. Special Agent Thomas H. White, Jr., testified for the government and a prima facie case was established. Petitioner offered no comment with respect thereto.

FOURTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That in the latter part of October 1963 (exact date unknown), while discussing his contemplated defense with Mr. James E. Hammond, court-appointed counsel, petitioner revealed he had made an unauthorized trip to Cuba; that several days later counsel admitted to petitioner he had disclosed this privileged communication and other information given him in confidence by petitioner to the Federal Bureau of Investigation; that counsel cited his reasons for doing so; that such reasons were invalid; that such disclosure was later confirmed by persons not herein identified; that all such information revealed by petitioner to counsel was material and vital to his defense against the crime charged; that at no time did petitioner authorize the disclosure of any information he provided Mr. Hammond; that by the foregoing, petitioner's privilege to the standard attorney-client relationship was abrogated; that counsel's aforementioned conduct had a direct bearing on petitioner's refusal to accept the services of another El Paso lawyer (Mr. John Langford) appointed thereafter by the court; that counsel's aforementioned conduct bred in petitioner a distrust of other local attorneys subsequently appointed by the court to defend him; that petitioner was not permitted by his court-appointed counsel, against petitioner's will, to raise the aforesaid issue at either trial on the merits or on appeal therefrom.

On November 19, 1963, during an interview held at the El Paso County Jail, petitioner alleged certain violations of his constitutional safeguards by the authorities to Mr. Edward J. Murphy and Mr. Lawrence W. Garman, Special Agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. He signed a written statement to that regard. When the interview terminated, petitioner wrote a note to F.B.I. Special Agent Thomas H. White, Jr. and asked Mr. Murphy to give it to Mr. White. Mr. Murphy stated he would do so.

ON NOVEMBER 22, 1963, THAT THE AFORESAID NOTE WRITTEN ON NOVEMBER 22, 1963, DEVELOPED INTO EVIDENCE TITLED TO PETITIONER'S DEFENSE AGAINST THE CRIME CHARGED; THAT SUCH EVIDENCE WAS WITHHELD BY THE FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION FROM THE UNITED STATES ATTORNEY PROSECUTING PETITIONER'S CASE THEN AND EVER AFTER; THAT SUCH EVIDENCE WAS WITHHELD BY THE F.B.I. FROM PETITIONER'S COUNSEL APPOINTED BY THE COURT EVER AFTER; THAT SUCH EVIDENCE WAS SUPPRESSED BY PETITIONER'S COURT-COUNSEL AT BOTH TRIALS ON THE MERITS AND ON APPEAL THEREAFTER, IN THAT HE REFUSED TO ASK THE COURT TO ISSUE A SUBPOENA DUES TECUM FOR SUCH EVIDENCE, AFTER PETITIONER INSISTED HE DO SO.

On November 22, 1963, at approximately 1:00 P.M., Central Standard Time, petitioner wrote a note and handed it to Mr. Hendon (also known as "Cory"), a deputy sheriff and jailer on duty at the El Paso County Jail, asking that he take it to the Jail Captain immediately. The note was a request to speak to the Secret Service as soon as possible, that it was "important". The writing of such note and the handing of such note to Mr. Hendon was witnessed in its entirety by a person not herein identified.

Thereafter (exact date unknown), petitioner was visited by F.B.I. Special Agent Thomas H. White, Jr. Petitioner stated to Mr. White that he had asked to speak to the Secret Service, not the F.B.I. He said he had written a letter to the F.B.I. in Washington prior to his arrest about Lee Harvey Oswald, that the F.B.I. had neglected to do anything about it. Mr. White asked petitioner several how he had met Mr. Oswald, and other questions. Petitioner answered several questions but refused to answer some others. He said he would speak only to the Secret Service. Whereupon, Mr. White became angry and left the interview room.

Thereafter (exact date unknown), petitioner was visited by Mr. White, another Special Agent of the F.B.I. who stated he was handling the F.B.I.'s investigation into the assassination of President Kennedy, and a man who identified himself as a member of the Secret Service. Whereupon, petitioner refused to answer any questions truthfully or elaborate on any answers he gave, because of the presence of the aforesaid F.B.I. agents.

That same night petitioner wrote a letter to the Chief, Secret Service Division, U.S. Treasury Department, Washington, D.C., advising that there had been a conspiracy to murder President Kennedy and other government officials; that he would be willing to give information in regard thereto; that he had been questioned by a member of the Secret Service in the presence of the F.B.I., and that he could not be expected to answer questions truthfully under those conditions. Petitioner never received a response to his letter from the Secret Service.

Thereafter, the court appointed Mr. John Langford of El Paso to represent petitioner, but petitioner informed him, and later the court, he did not desire the services of any court-appointed counsel, that he would defend himself. Mr. Langford was excused as counsel during a hearing held on December 4, 1963.

At the same hearing, petitioner, by hand-written application and verbal argument, contended he was being denied a speedy trial. His petition was summarily denied. Petitioner then informed the court that certain personal effects taken from him at the time of his arrest by agents of the F.B.I. had not yet been returned to him, and that he needed these effects to present as evidence for his defense if he was ~~able~~ to stand trial. The presiding judge, the Honorable R. E. Thomasen, thereupon instructed the Assistant United States Attorney present at the hearing, Mr. Fred Marton, to see that the personal effects belonging to petitioner were returned to him.

On December 14, 1963, F.B.I. Special Agent Thomas H. White, Jr., brought most of the aforementioned personal effects to the El Paso County Jail and permitted petitioner to inspect them, but he would not return the items petitioner stated he needed. Petitioner was made to sign a receipt for the personal effects were returned to him, but Mr. White ~~did~~ refused to give petitioner any kind of a receipt for the items he kept.

SIXTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That on September 20, 1963 agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation seized and confiscated personal and private property belonging to and in the possession of petitioner, such property constituting evidence crucial to his defense against the crime charged; that such property consisted in part of two pocket-size notebooks (one of them containing names of certain agents and employees of the Central Intelligence Agency), two receipts for registered mail, ten or more photographs of various individuals, two Mexican tourist cards (one of them for ~~pass~~ multiple entrance) made out to the names "Joseph Kramer" and "Albert" or "Aleksi Hidel;" that the F.B.I., having been duly apprised of the court's instructions to return the aforesaid property to petitioner, refused ever to do so; that such refusal precluded petitioner from presenting evidence crucial to his defense at either trial on the merits or on appeal therefrom; that prior to each trial petitioner insisted court-appointed counsel ask the court to issue a subpoena duces tecum for such evidence and that counsel refused to do so; ~~that the Secretary, in part and as a whole, constituted, besides other agents, possession of petitioner's rights as a defendant in a criminal case, an unreasonable seizure of private property in violation of petitioner's safeguards pursuant to the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution.~~

Meanwhile, (exact date unknown), petitioner had written to the United States Department of Justice complaining of an "illegal seizure of personal and private property by the F.B.I.," and mentioning the statement he had signed for F.B.I. Special Agents Edward J. Murphy and Lawrence W. Gorman on November 19, 1963. Petitioner never received an answer to his letter.

On January 6, 1964, petitioner was interviewed at the El Paso County Jail by Mr. Murphy and Mr. Gorman, F.B.I. He was accused of having acted as an "unregistered agent" for a foreign power and of aiding and abetting in the commission of a capital offense. He was accused of having resigned his commission from the Army for reasons not included in his Letter of Resignation. Mr. Murphy said he thought petitioner had "something you want to get off your chest," or words similar and to that effect, and added "we are glad we got to you before you did anything to yourself," or words similar and to that effect. In the latter regard, Mr. Murphy drew a comparison between petitioner and one Jack Dunlap, a suspected spy, who allegedly committed suicide in July 1963. Mr. Murphy asked petitioner if he would be willing to go to "Springfield" for awhile, and when petitioner replied that he would not, that he wanted to stand trial because he was innocent ~~of anything~~, Mr. Murphy stated "Well, you might have to go to prison for awhile," or words similar and to that effect, indicating

petitioner would be convicted if he stood trial. Petitioner became angry and said that the F.B.I. was "trying to cover everything up." To which Mr. Murphy answered, "What do you mean?"....So when petitioner retorted, "you know damn well what I mean."

At this interview, petitioner gave a signed statement admitting the reason he had entered the bank on September 22, 1963, and why he had wanted himself arrested by Federal authorities. Petitioner told Mr. Murphy and Mr. Gorman he thought initially he would be tried for discharging a firearm on property subject to federal jurisdiction, but that now he could "see the handwriting on the wall."

SEVERAL SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS: That the aforementioned admission, duly signed and witnessed, constituted evidence vital to petitioner's defense against the crime for which he was later indicted; that according to court-appointed counsel (Mr. Joseph A. Calamia), the Federal Bureau of Investigation denied on his inquiry, before the first trial on the merits, that it was in possession of such evidence or that petitioner had ever given its field agents such evidence; that if counsel's allegation is fact, the F.B.I. knowingly withheld such evidence before and at the first trial on the merits; that counsel, at petitioner's second trial, having been provided with a copy of the aforementioned admission or statement per the court's order, refused without any explanation to make any attempt to have the admission introduced into evidence, despite petitioner's insistence he do so; that counsel's refusal amounted to suppression of evidence vital to petitioner's defense, for the court would surely have permitted the truth to be introduced; that had such evidence not been withheld or suppressed at either trial on the merits, but had it been introduced together with other evidence that was withheld or suppressed, it probably would have been so persuasive to reasonable members of the jury as to have caused them to return a verdict of acquittal; that at the very least, introduction of such evidence at either trial on the merits or on appeal thereinafter, would have opened the door for petitioner to testify as to the truth in his case, might then and ever have done him a great deal of good, and by the foregoing, in violation of petitioner's right to a speedy trial and to the Fifth Amendment, the United States Constitution, and the Bill of Rights.

Thereafter, in January 1964 (exact date unknown), petitioner was indicted by a federal Grand Jury at San Antonio, Texas, for having entered a federally insured bank with intent to rob and for attempting to commit robbery in violation of Section 2113 (a), Title 18, U.S.C.A.

Between January 8, 1964 and January 21, 1964 (exact date unknown), petitioner wrote another letter to the United States Attorney General citing violations of his constitutional safeguards, that the F.B.I. still held evidence he needed for his defense, that he was being intimidated to incriminate himself in the alleged commission of an offense other than the one for which he was charged, and that he was being denied a speedy trial. Petitioner never received an answer to his letter.

At a hearing held on January 24, 1964, the court, on the government's motion, ordered petitioner committed to the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners, Springfield, Missouri, for a period of psychiatric observation to determine his mental competency to stand trial. Petitioner contacted his military and Veterans Administration records would prove he had no psychosis.

At the same hearing, petitioner stated to the court he had been questioned by the F.B.I. regarding alleged subversive activities and activities of a nature inimical to the best interests of the United States. He had been asked questions by the Secret Service regarding Elmer Farmer, Canada, and that he would not willingly participate in any psychiatric examination or consultation at Springfield. After

leaving the courtroom, petitioner was approached by a group of newsmen, one of whom asked petitioner a question pertaining to the assassination of President Kennedy; Whorcuppa, both of petitioner's arms were grabbed by James E. Mathias Jack Graves and, possibly, Jim Johnson and he was hustled into an elevator. Before the elevator door closed, petitioner uttered to the aforesaid newsmen, "The F.B.I. is responsible for the assassination of President Kennedy," meaning that he had neglected to take steps which, in petitioner's opinion would have prevented the President's murder. Petitioner's outcry was broadcast over a local radio station soon thereafter.

As a ~~fact~~ asidepoint, it might be mentioned here that during petitioner's long incarceration in the El Paso County Jail, then and later, he was never permitted to read a newspaper, but that he did, on occasion in 1964, read a newspaper which was smuggled to him by another inmate of the jail. Altogether, petitioner spent over one year confined in such jail.

Thereafter, on January 26, 1964, petitioner was transported by automobile to the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners.

On March 6, 1964, the Chief Medical Officer at the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners reported to the court a diagnosis that petitioner had a "passive-aggressive personality"; that he was competent to stand trial as he had a rational as well as a factual understanding of the proceedings against him, and that he was able to assist rationally in his defense.

On or about March 12, 1964, petitioner was returned to the El Paso County Jail.

EIGHTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That petitioner was not at the time of the offense alleged, at the time or any of his commitments to the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners, or ever later, insane or otherwise devoid of his mental faculties; that he is not now, nor has he ever been, certified psychotic or insane by any medical authority, or adjudicated mentally incompetent in a court of law, or adjudged to be incapable of acting or assisting in his own defense; that this promise, unless determined otherwise in a court of law, should be considered as fact and pertinent to all allegations set forth herein.

* (OVER) INCLUDE HERE

At a hearing held on March 24, 1964, petitioner, convinced that the delay in bringing him to trial stemmed from his refusal to accept the services of counsel appointed by the court, requested such counsel be appointed. Whereupon, the court appointed Mr. Gus Ballis and Mr. Richard B. Parvencot, both of El Paso, to represent him.

The case was called on March 30, 1964, and then continued for the purpose of allowing counsel additional time in which to prepare for trial.

On April 10, 1964, at a hearing involving a request for issuance of subpoenas for certain records desired by petitioner, he exclaimed, "I think I'm being railroaded because I'm an accused communist and because I've been accused of being an espionage agent."

NINTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That on April 10, 1964, an employee of the sentencing court erred in recording petitioner's outburst, aforesaid, in that the court record shows petitioner as stating, "I think that I am being railroaded because I am a communist and because I have been accused of being an espionage agent"; that such erroneous statement was made public in and around El Paso, Texas; that such error has never been corrected despite repeated efforts by petitioner to have court-appointed counsel entertain an affidavit affirming to the contrary; that such uncorrected error

was twice referenced in the appellate court's opinion reversing petitioner's first conviction; that such uncorrected error is and has been throughout the litigation in this case unduly prejudicial to petitioner.

At sometime between April 10, 1964 and April 20, 1964 (exact date unknown), petitioner drafted a letter to the Director, Federal Bureau of Investigation, Washington, D.C. He asked counsel, Mr. Rallis, to have the letter typed and to have several carbon copies made of it, which Mr. Rallis did the next day. After petitioner signed the original he requested that Mr. Rallis mail it via postal registry, which he stated he would do, in the presence of Mr. ~~Perrenot~~ Perronot.

In the letter, aforementioned, petitioner made reference to another letter, signed with either the name "Joseph Kramer" or "Robert Nolan," which had been mailed at petitioner's instance, via postal registry, to the Director, Federal Bureau of Investigation, in September 1963 prior to his arrest. That letter advised of a conspiracy to murder the Chief Executive of the United States (or President John F. Kennedy) during the latter part of September 1963, and the identity and whereabouts of one of the key persons, if not the key figure, involved: "Albert" or "Aleksel Hidel."

In the April letter, aforementioned, petitioner explained that it was he who had signed the September letter, that the F.B.I. should realize this, and that the truth was going to be brought out if he stood trial on "trumped-up charges."

TENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That files and dossiers of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, including File No. 91 1189 14, will reveal that the names "Joseph Kramer" and "Robert Nolan" are pseudonyms of petitioner, used by him during the month of September 1963, and prior thereto; that the pseudonym "Robert Nolan" was authorized for petitioner's use by an intelligence organization operating under the control of responsible officials of the United States ~~Government~~; that petitioner used both of the aforesaid pseudonyms at various locations in the United States and in three foreign countries during the period September 1962 through September 1963; that petitioner's use of such pseudonyms in the United States and Mexico was well known to the F.B.I. prior to his arrest; that files and dossiers of the F.B.I. and the Central Intelligence Agency will reveal that the names "Albert Hidel" and "Aleksel Hidel" were pseudonyms used by Mr. Lee H. Oswald during the month of September 1963 and prior thereto.

ELEVENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That a letter mailed at petitioner's instance between September 9, 1963 and September 17, 1963, to the Director, Federal Bureau of Investigation, later developed into evidence crucial to his defense against the crime charged; that such evidence was withheld by the F.B.I. at both trials on the merits; that through intimidation and coercion by court-appointed counsel petitioner was not allowed to raise the aforesaid issue or subpoena witnesses in regards thereto at or before either trial on the merits or on appeal therefrom; that had such evidence been introduced at either trial on the merits it probably would have been so persuasive to reasonable jurors that, coupled with other evidence petitioner was not permitted to introduce, it would have caused them to return verdicts of acquittal; that, at the least, introduction of such evidence at either trial on the merits would have opened the door for petitioner to testify as to the truth in his case, a right then and ever later denied him.

On April 20, 1964, the case was again called at which time petitioner requested relief of one of his counsel, Mr. Perronot. Petitioner alleges that the reason he asked for Mr. Perronot's relief concerned his remark to petitioner, in the presence of

Mr. Ballis, that he had heard petitioner was a communist and that he despised everything petitioner stood for, but that he would still represent him if he wanted his assistance. Petitioner did not feel he could easily go to trial with such counsel. The court permitted Mr. Permut to withdraw from the case and another El Paso lawyer, Mr. Joseph A. Calamia, was substituted in his stead.

At a hearing held in the afternoon of the same date, April 20, 1964, Mr. Calamia reported to the court that petitioner was refusing to cooperate in the matter of obtaining what he termed "complete psychiatric reports." Petitioner denied any mental disability to the district court judge and said he had already been found mentally competent to stand trial.

TWELFTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That prior to the aforesaid hearing, counsel, Mr. Calamia, had asked petitioner to sign papers authorizing the Veterans Administration to forward his medical records to the court (through the United States Attorney who was prosecuting petitioner's case); that petitioner refused, advising counsel that though he had been awarded a 64% disability rating by the V.A., it was not for a mental condition and that neither the Army or the V.A. had ever found him to be afflicted with a nervous disorder; that petitioner did not then or ever later want to raise the issue of insanity or mental incompetency as a defense against the crimes charged, and that he so informed his counsel; that petitioner apprised counsel that the defense of insanity or mental incompetency was contrary to the truth and facts involved in his case; that petitioner apprised counsel, pointedly Mr. Ballis, before Mr. Calamia's appointment, of the reasons why he had wanted himself arrested by federal authorities on September 20, 1963, and why he had subjected himself to arrest in the manner he did; that such reasons related to a conspiracy to murder the former Chief Executive of the United States, President John F. Kennedy.

At the same hearing, held in the afternoon of April 20, 1964, petitioner stated to the court he would not cooperate with his appointed counsel in so far as any defense depended on mental incompetency, citing that such a defense was contrary and repugnant to the truth in his case. The upshot of this was that the court allowed both Mr. Calamia and Mr. Ballis to withdraw as counsel, at their request. The presiding judge, the Honorable Roman T. Thornberry, instructed that petitioner "will prepare his own defense," and stand trial the following Monday morning.

After the hearing ended, petitioner was returned to the El Paso County Jail, while then former counsel deposited all of petitioner's defense material (including written statements and advisements petitioner had given counsel, and photocasts of documents petitioner had paid for at prior counsel's expense) with the U.S. Deputy Marshal, whose office was in the Federal Building. Petitioner was told he could not take this material with him to his tank in the jail.

THIRTEENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That as a result of the court's instructions, aforesaid, petitioner was coerced by the sentencing court to accept, cooperate in, and abide by the defense of insanity or mental incompetency as his defense at the first trial on the merits, in that he was not given sufficient time to prepare a proper defense after abrupt notification he was to stand trial without counsel; that, all other factors set aside, under the conditions of petitioner's confinement it was virtually impossible for him to adequately prepare a defense in the short time allotted; that the defense of insanity or mental incompetency was contrary to the truth and facts involved, and opposed to the facts responsible for petitioner's conduct in the days of September 20, 1963; that such defense was inadequate and ineffective to protect him and resulted in petitioner's conviction at both trials on the merits.

in the defense of insanity or mental incompetency for the reasons already stated. Mr. Calamia and Mr. White were represented by the court-appointed counsel.

... housing with ... granted counsel in ...

On May 1, 1964, the case went to trial. (OVER)

Briefly, by prosecution testimony, the robbery took place late in the afternoon of September 20, 1963, petitioner went to the National Bank, El Paso, Texas. He approached a lady teller and asked where ... could be obtained. He was directed to another cage. Upon reaching the cage he asked that lady teller for one hundred dollars worth of travelers' checks ... allegedly the teller moved to get them ... to have said, "That's this is a real gun." She immediately ran, ... their several steps away from the cage, fired two shots into the bank ... of about seven feet, not adding at the teller, and allegedly ran out of the bank followed by a uniformed police officer who was acting as a guard ... a display of currency, mostly one hundred dollar bills. Petitioner was, ... arrested at a time when he allegedly was about to leave in an ... was alleged to have left parked near the bank.

Petitioner testified in his own behalf. He denied he had really intended or attempted to rob the bank. He denied he had said, "That's this is a real gun," and he had run out of the bank. One witness, the vice-president of the bank, substantiated his latter denial. Petitioner alleges this witness was ... to ... "was jabs," when the prosecution, having been informed of what he was going to do, jumped up immediately and objected. Petitioner was ... and declined to answer, advised to the court that philosophy, he ... but he declined to answer on the grounds that it might incriminate him. He ... that he did what he did in the bank not for robbery but ... in order that he might be ... by ... authorities. He refused to elaborate on why he wanted to be ... other ... may be thought it would provide a ... however ... to a ... he considered at the time to be an ... with which he was ... confronted. He said that before he went to the bank he was in the process of leaving the United States permanently, by way of Mexico City. He insisted that it ... he planned to leave, because he had had every basic constitutional right ... violated.

Although counsel had, prior to the trial, promised petitioner he would have F.B.I. Special Agents White, Murphy, Gorman and three other Special Agents not herein identified, subpoenaed to the trial for questioning by petitioner, he failed to do so. Mr. White was present at the prosecutor's table, but did not testify. Counsel refused to put Mr. White on the stand, despite petitioner's insistence he do so. As a matter of fact, no agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation testified at either trial on the merits.

FOURTEENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That petitioner was intimidated by court-appointed counsel, Mr. Calamia, not to tell the whole truth at his first trial on the merits, in that he was advised during a pre-trial interview if he told "any wild tales in court like you just told me," the judge would stop the trial and he would be committed to a mental institution; that during the trial such intimidation was ... by counsel both inside and outside the courtroom and ... as a result of telling part of the truth at trial ... suppression of evidence which ...

rightful defense, he was convicted at said trial; that counsel, by such intimidation, denied petitioner adequate and effective legal assistance since the purpose of a jury trial is to bring out the whole truth in order that the jury itself, and only the jury, may accept it or reject it, and render a just verdict accordingly.

FIFTHS SUBJECTS ALLEGATION: That counsel, by asking petitioner during his testimony if he adhered to the communist philosophy, to communist teachings, without ascertaining beforehand what his answer would be, so abused standard procedure and so conceivably prejudiced petitioner's cause, as to influence the jury to return a verdict of guilty; that counsel, both during the first trial on the merits and in preparation thereof, well demonstrated his intent to raise only the issue of insanity or mental incompetency as the ~~only~~ primary avenue of defense, when there existed in fact and to his knowledge a different and accurate ~~primary~~ primary avenue of defense, that of the truth; that counsel advised petitioner before the first trial on the merits that he did not expect to win acquittal for petitioner at said trial, but that he would win a reversal on appeal.

On May 6, 1964, petitioner was convicted by the jury on both counts of the indictment.

On May 8, 1964, petitioner was interviewed by both counsel at the El Paso County Jail. Mr. Calamia stated, "I told you, Richard, I was going to have to win this case on appeal," or words similar and to that effect. Petitioner made reference to a letter he had mailed to the court prior to the trial, in April 1964 (exact date unknown), which later was ~~read~~ read into the record by the judge, and which requested that he be examined by a Veterans Administration psychiatrist and given an electroencephalogram (EEG) test. Petitioner also referred to Dr. Edwin A. Weinstein, a consultant in neurology and psychiatry, who conducted examinations of petitioner in 1955 when he was a patient at Walter Reed Army Hospital recovering from injuries sustained in the crash of a military aircraft. Petitioner had, on or about April 23, 1964, provided counsel with Dr. Weinstein's name and address and the information that petitioner had suffered a negligible amount of organic brain damage as the result of a head injury received in the plane crash, plus the information that while Army medical authorities had determined such brain damage to be negligible, Dr. Weinstein theorized it to be more serious.

Petitioner asked counsel why, if he was so bent on showing the jury that petitioner was insane, had he not arranged for the EEG test petitioner had requested, and why had he not contacted Dr. Weinstein?

Counsel answered that he thought petitioner had, at the time, been trying to prove there was "nothing wrong" with him.

Be that as it may, petitioner alleges the foregoing to be significant when, as will be seen, the element of organic brain damage was not raised until petitioner's hearing on a motion for a new trial (at which Dr. Weinstein was subpoenaed and testified), which in turn, though the motion was denied, provided substantial grounds for ~~petitioner's~~ petitioner's first appeal.

Petitioner alleges the foregoing to be more significant when it is considered that the element of brain damage (alleged by counsel on appeal, and through coerced, perjured testimony of petitioner and perjured testimony of Mr. Rallis, to have been concealed by petitioner from counsel until after the first trial) materialized into the so-called "crucial evidence newly discovered," which became the sole basis for the reversal of petitioner's first conviction.

Petitioner also alleges the foregoing to be even more significant when it is considered that later, prior to the second trial on the merits, as will be seen, intensive psychological testing and electroencephalographic examination of petitioner at the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners failed to show any evidence of brain damage.

SIXTEENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That aforementioned court-appointed counsel, by his own design and for his own purpose, neglected to initiate action which could have raised the so-called newly discovered evidence at petitioner's first trial; that if such evidence could convince the appellate court to reverse petitioner's first conviction, it also could have, conceivably, been persuasive enough to cause the first trial jury to render a verdict of acquittal (regardless of the final outcome of the brain damage theory); that counsel deliberately lied in the motion for a new trial and in his brief submitted on the first appeal, when he stated or indicated that it was petitioner who had concealed the facts leading to the "discovery" of the "new evidence"; that as a result of counsel's untruths with respect thereto, Mr. Ballis' perjured testimony at the hearing on the motion for a new trial, and petitioner's own coerced, perjured testimony at such hearing (supported by Dr. Weinstein's testimony, though in good faith), the appellate court erred in finding that the newly discovered evidence was concealed by petitioner; that if the element of brain damage had been introduced as evidence at petitioner's first trial, and had he been acquitted as a result, later on, at the hearing on the motion for a new trial, petitioner would not have been maneuvered into the position where he was coerced to perjure himself, nor would he have found it necessary before the second trial to submit to medical examination (as will be seen, through intimidation) which finally dissipated the so-called newly discovered evidence completely; that had any of the foregoing not occurred, petitioner would not now be a convicted and sentenced prisoner.

Prior to the hearing on the motion for a new trial, counsel, Mr. Calamia, inferred that if petitioner would testify that he had not mentioned Dr. Weinstein's name, the aforesaid plane crash, or the possible existence of brain damage to him until after the trial on the merits, that there would be good grounds for a reversal of petitioner's conviction on appeal. Counsel did not openly state this, but his inferences was nevertheless obvious to any person of average intelligence. Counsel also inferred that such testimony would help block any attempts by the government to claim lack of diligence on the part of petitioner or counsel.

With this in mind, petitioner took the stand at his hearing on the motion for a new trial, held on June 7, 1964. In short, petitioner testified that he had not disclosed the "existence" of organic brain damage or anything relating thereto to counsel before his trial on the merits. Petitioner perjured himself on this account and on other matters, including an "admission" he had shot himself through the chest in a suicide attempt and that he had destroyed certain Army medical records, to indicate he was and had been mentally ill. Petitioner alleges that such testimony was in every sense of the word coerced testimony and wholly untrue.

SEVENTEENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That petitioner did, at his hearing on the motion for a new trial subsequent to conviction at the first trial on the merits, give false and perjured testimony; that such testimony was then, before, and ever later known by both court-appointed counsel to be false; that petitioner gave such perjured testimony only after coercion and the series of events already described; that petitioner would not be able to obtain justice by answering counsel's questions truthfully, and that petitioner was unlawfully coerced into giving such perjured testimony.

The motion for a new trial was denied on June 8, 1964, and on the same date petitioner was sentenced to the maximum penalty of ten years on each count of the indictment, both terms ordered to be served concurrently, in the custody of the United States Attorney General. Thereupon, petitioner signed papers electing not to begin serving his sentence pending outcome of appeal from conviction. He was remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal and returned to the El Paso County Jail.

On or about June 14, 1964, petitioner was taken to the hospital ward of the United States Correctional Institution, La Tuna, New Mexico, by ambulance. Petitioner desires to discuss this event in some detail if and when he is granted a hearing on this petition.

A day or so later, while still confined at La Tuna, counsel (Mr. Calamia) visited petitioner, and, in the presence of Mr. Jack Graves, Deputy U.S. Marshal of El Paso, advised him he would be transferred to St. Elisabeth's Hospital in Washington, D.C., if he would sign papers electing to begin serving his sentence; that if he did so, he would not be returned to the El Paso County Jail nor would he be sent to a penitentiary or any prison until ~~and~~ and unless his conviction was affirmed on appeal. Petitioner then signed the aforementioned papers.

The following day counsel revisited petitioner, and, again, in the presence of Mr. Graves, stated that the arrangements to have him transferred to St. Elisabeth's Hospital had "fallen through," but that if petitioner would sign another set of papers electing to begin serving his sentence pending outcome of appeal, he would be transferred to the U.S. Public Health Service Hospital at Fort Worth, Texas. Counsel repeated, upon query by petitioner, that if he did so, he would not be sent to a penitentiary or any prison until and unless his conviction was affirmed on appeal. Petitioner thereupon signed the aforementioned papers.

EIGHTEENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That petitioner, after conviction at his first trial on the merits, finally signed papers electing to begin serving his sentence pending outcome of appeal, only because he had been advised by counsel that if he did so he would not be sent to a penitentiary or any prison until and unless his conviction was affirmed on appeal; that counsel gave such advice knowing it to be misleading, unworthy, and false; that such action by counsel constituted a usurpation and encroachment on petitioner's rights under the law existing at that time.

On June 19, 1964, petitioner was transported by automobile to the U.S. Public Health Service Hospital, Fort Worth, Texas, a hospital and place of confinement reserved primarily for narcotics-law offenders, where he was incarcerated for thirty-three days.

NINETEENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That while confined at the aforesaid institution, petitioner was subjected to questioning, involuntarily, about the offense for which he stood convicted, the defense raised at his trial, his true defense against the crime charged, and matters relating to his appeal from conviction than being prepared; that when petitioner refused to answer some of the questions put to him, he was subjected to duress in that he was told if he did not cooperate in answering all questions he would most likely be sent to a penitentiary.

On July 22, 1964, petitioner was transported by automobile to the United States Penitentiary, Leavenworth, Kansas, where he remained incarcerated until February 15, 1965.

MEMORANDUM SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That while confined at the aforesaid institution, petitioner, a Federal prisoner then awaiting outcome of appeal from conviction, was subjected to questioning in the prison hospital during the months of July and August 1964 and November and December 1964 about the crime for which he stood convicted, the defense raised at his trial, his true defense against the crime charged, and matters relating to his appeal from conviction, military service and political views; that he was subjected to such questioning involuntarily and against his will; that when petitioner refused to answer any and all of the questions aforesaid, he was subjected to coercion, duress and cruel and unusual punishments; that on one occasion he was stripped naked and made to lie and sleep on a tile floor for ten days, without just cause; that during such period he was purposefully exposed to view of prison homosexuals and subjected to their ridicule; that during such period he was never permitted to wash any part of his body or perform other necessities of personal hygiene; that during such period his toilet was flushed once a day and he was never provided with any toilet paper; that during such period he was asked every day if he was ready to talk; that during such period he was not furnished an adequate supply of water to drink; that subsequent to the aforesaid ten day period, he was removed from the prison hospital and placed in solitary confinement in Building # 63 at the penitentiary; that later, in December 1964, petitioner was asked the same questions again, and again he refused to answer them; that as a result he was forcibly administered a dangerous drug, without medical examination beforehand; that such drug was administered until his physical condition commanded it be stopped; that as a direct result of the administration of such drug, petitioner's life, mental health, and physical well-being was placed in jeopardy; that petitioner's letters to his counsel and a physician-consultant to the Walter Reed Army Institute of Research complaining in the aforesaid regard, were destroyed in petitioner's presence by Mr. Charles E. Harris, an associate warden of the penitentiary; that as a result of the punishments referenced, and solely because of such punishments, petitioner "cooperated" in answering some of the questions put to him; that as a consequence of answering certain questions pertaining to his mental status, petitioner revealed evidence which was later used against him at his second trial on the merits; that by the foregoing, in part and as a whole, petitioner was compelled to be a witness against himself at such trial.

7 Petitioner's appeal from his first conviction was filed on November 2, 1964 in the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, New Orleans. It was heard at Houston, Texas, on December 2, 1965, and, by the appellate court's opinion dated January 4, 1966, petitioner's first conviction was reversed with instructions that a new trial be granted.

Seven grounds were raised in support of reversal by court-appointed counsel. Six of these were "Confidentially Rejected." The seventh ground, contending that a new trial should have been granted on account of crucial evidence newly discovered (that of "serious organic brain damage"), was sustained.

The court's opinion held that such evidence "was unknown to the trial judge or defense attorneys until after the trial." It held that such evidence was concealed by petitioner "as the result of a damaged brain and diseased mind." The opinion also stated: "The former valiant soldier who had sustained wounds on three occasions in defense of his Country had become so completely altered that he announced himself in open court to be a Communist. He had made one serious effort to kill himself by a shot in the left chest."

TWENTY-FIRST SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That despite petitioner's continuous and repeated requests to counsel, and offers to pay costs for the same, he was never before or after filing of the appeal, furnished or permitted to see a copy of the appeal brief submitted in his behalf; that the appellate court's opinion vividly indicates such brief was pervaded with a conglomeration of truths, half-truths and outright falsities; that they were known to be such by counsel; that petitioner's own coerced, perjured testimony at the hearing on the motion for a new trial, and Mr. Rallis' perjured testimony at such hearing, was heavily relied upon by the appellate court in formulating its opinion; that had other evidence crucial to petitioner's rightful defense not been withheld or suppressed at his trial or at the hearing on the motion for a new trial, it would have been made available to the appellate court via the sentencing court's record; that had the truth been raised even after petitioner's first conviction, the appellate court may very well have reversed his conviction without remanding him for another trial; that by the foregoing the appellate court's reversal of his first conviction merely paved the way for petitioner's second conviction and ~~his~~ present detention.

On February 15, 1966, petitioner was released from Leavenworth Penitentiary and returned to the El Paso County Jail.

On February 25, 1966, petitioner mailed a letter to the court requesting relief of court-appointed counsel and permission to act as his own counsel at all future legal proceedings, until he could make arrangements to retain qualified counsel to represent him. He received no answer from the court.

On February 28, 1966, counsel (Mr. Calamia) visited petitioner at the jail and stated he was making arrangements to have petitioner committed to a Veterans Hospital, that if petitioner would agree to a voluntary commitment the government would dismiss the charges pending against him. Petitioner replied he would agree to this if he could receive assurance the charges would be dropped after the commitment.

On March 1, 1966, Mr. Calamia, accompanied by a Mr. Escobar, another El Paso attorney, who identified himself verbally as being a representative of the Veterans Administration in El Paso, visited petitioner. The substance of this interview was that both counsel and Mr. Escobar attempted to persuade petitioner to agree to a voluntary commitment to a V.A. hospital in lieu of standing trial again. Petitioner advised he would submit to no commitment "with charges hanging over my head."

On March 2, 1966, petitioner, as a precaution, wrote and mailed another letter to the court requesting relief of counsel and permission to act in his own behalf at any future legal proceeding, until he could make ~~arrangements~~ arrangements to retain counsel of his own choosing. He received no answer from the court.

On March 7, March 8, and March 14, 1966, counsel visited petitioner, attempting to persuade him to submit to a commitment to a V.A. hospital. Mr. Calamia stated that the government would not dismiss the charges against petitioner until after he was committed, and petitioner refused to agree to a commitment unless he received some assurance "besides your word" that the charges ~~would~~ would indeed be dismissed after he did so.

On March 16, 1966, petitioner wrote and mailed a rather lengthy letter to the court which pertained to his situation and complaints and what the government's "idea" offered to him by the government via court-appointed counsel. He received no answer from the court.

On March 18, 1966, Mr. Jack Graves, Deputy U.S. Marshal, visited petitioner and attempted to persuade him to submit to a commitment to a V.A. hospital in lieu of standing trial. Petitioner, not receiving any valid assurance that the charges would be dismissed after such commitment, refused to agree to do so.

On March 28, 1966, Mr. Tony Enriquez, Deputy U.S. Marshal, attempted for over one hour to persuade petitioner to submit to a voluntary commitment to a V.A. hospital in lieu of standing trial. Petitioner, not receiving any valid assurance that the charges would be dismissed after such commitment, refused to agree to do so.

On April 4, 1966, petitioner wrote and mailed a letter to Mr. Harry L. Hudspeth, Assistant United States Attorney at El Paso, advising him that counsel's further representation of him (petitioner) was without his authorization, and also mentioning that his reply to the government's proposal relayed by counsel was contained in his letter to the court dated March 16, 1966.

The following day petitioner received an answer from Mr. Hudspeth, dated also on April 4, 1966, which advised that relief of counsel was a matter for the court to decide upon.

On April 7, 1966, three months after the appellate court's reversal of petitioner's conviction, a hearing was held in which the court again ordered petitioner committed to the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners for a period of psychiatric observation to determine his mental competency to stand trial. At this hearing petitioner brought up the subject of his three letters to the court requesting relief of appointed counsel. When the presiding judge stated he had not received petitioner's letters dated February 25, 1966 and March 2, 1966, petitioner produced carbon copies of these letters and gave them to the court. Petitioner stated that his sister was in the process of making arrangements for him to be represented by qualified counsel, retained at her ~~own~~ expense; that she had already talked to an attorney concerning such representation.

Thereupon, the judge, the Honorable Dorwin W. Suttle, instructed that any attorneys retained by petitioner or his sister would have to act under the supervision of court-appointed counsel.

It was after these instructions that the court ordered petitioner's aforementioned commitment. Both counsel were present. When asked by the court if he had any comment to make, Mr. Calamia replied that under the circumstances he had no comment to make. Mr. Rallis also stated he had no comment to make. The Assistant U.S. Attorney, either Mr. Jaime Boyd or Mr. Harry L. Hudspeth, also stated he had no comment to make when queried by the court. Petitioner then asked the court if he could say something in his own behalf. The judge replied, "This court doesn't want to hear anything you have to say, Mr. Nagell," or words similar and to that effect. Thereupon, petitioner became angry and stated, "This is a mockery of justice," at which time the court ordered the Deputy U.S. Marshal to escort petitioner from the courtroom.

HELD ON APRIL 7, 1966,

TWENTY-SECOND SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That petitioner was not allowed to be present during a closed hearing at which matters bearing on his defense, case and custody were discussed by the aforementioned judge, the Assistant United States Attorneys, and court-appointed counsel; that in the light of the circumstances alleged thus far, petitioner should have been permitted attendance at such hearing; that at the hearing which was held in open court, petitioner was denied the ~~ability to~~ lawful ~~right~~ to speak in his own behalf, notwithstanding counsel's refusal to speak for him; that

the foregoing was a usurpation of petitioner's right ~~to~~ to question and protest action which would continue his detention and bar him from a speedy trial, in that petitioner was not earlier, then, or ever later found to be mentally incompetent or incapable of acting or assisting in his own defense; that the foregoing constituted an abolition of petitioner's right to seek relief from the very court which had the responsibility of protecting that right; that the court's commitment, on its ^{OWN PETITION} or any other motion, was effected in the ~~face~~ face of then recent documentary evidence furnished the court by competent medical authority that petitioner was mentally competent to stand trial; that by all of the foregoing, and by evidence which will be produced at any hearing on this petition, petitioner's safeguards under the law were flagrantly abused and he was, as a result, denied a speedy trial.

TWENTY-THIRD SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That the court's instructions issued on April 7, 1966, ordering that any attorney retained by petitioner or his sister would have to act under the supervision of court-appointed counsel, was unlawful; that such instructions had the ultimate effect of preventing petitioner and his relatives from finding qualified ~~and effective~~ counsel who would accept his case under those conditions; that the attorney originally contemplated for retention by petitioner through his relatives was and is a lawyer in good standing with the State Bar of Texas, admitted to practice law before the federal bench of the sentencing court; that retaining of such counsel would have been at the expense of petitioner's relatives; that the court's instructions denied petitioner the right to effective legal representation then and ever later, at his second trial in the merits, on appeal therefrom, and continuing to the present time.

On April 9, 1966, the date petitioner was to be transported to the U. S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners, he barricaded himself in his jail cell and refused to come out. He threatened to kill himself if anyone attempted to ~~force~~ force their way in.

On April 18, 1966, petitioner came out of his cell at the instance of Mr. Jesse Dobbs, Chief United States Marshal for the Western District of Texas. Petitioner alleges certain promises were made to him by Mr. Dobbs, in the name of the judge of the sentencing court, which were not kept.

On April 19, 1966, Mr. Dobbs, in the presence of Deputy U.S. Marshal Min Johnson, stated substantially the following to petitioner: That he had just finished talking to Judge Suttle, who he said was a longtime friend of his, and the judge had told him to tell petitioner that if he would cooperate with the doctors at Springfield, and submit to all of the examinations they requested of him, and that if it was determined by them that petitioner was not mentally competent at the time of the alleged offense, either he would not be brought to trial, or, if the evidence dictated he should stand trial, he would not be convicted. Mr. Dobbs inferred that the judge would direct a verdict of acquittal under these circumstances. He added that if petitioner was found to be mentally competent at the time of the alleged offense, and if he was convicted, that petitioner would not be sent to prison, because, as Mr. Dobbs expressed it, "he doesn't feel you belong in prison." Mr. Dobbs blatantly inferred petitioner would be placed on probation if convicted.

On the same day, April 19, 1966, counsel (Mr. Galanis) visited petitioner and requested that petitioner cooperate "fully" with the medical authorities at Springfield. Petitioner then remarked to counsel that there was a danger of "your newly discovered evidence vanishing into thin air" if examination at Springfield failed to disclose the existence of brain damage. Whereupon, counsel stated that it was wrong for petitioner to be placed in a spot where the government could "search our evidence," but that there was nothing he could do about it.

On April 22, 1966, petitioner entered the U. S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners for the second time, where he remained until July 9, 1966. Initially, petitioner refused to undergo any examinations requested of him by the medical authorities at Springfield. In a letter to counsel, Mr. Calamia, he mentioned the tests and examinations the doctors wanted him to take. He referenced the element of organic brain damage, and that any findings in regard thereto would automatically be furnished the United States Attorney (the prosecution). Petitioner wrote that this would constitute a search by the government of evidence raised by the defense. He indicated, for reasons well known to counsel, that he did not feel he could safely take the tests under these conditions. The ~~gist~~ emphasis and explanation petitioner put on this would only add to what must necessarily be a lengthy supporting memorandum. Petitioner also informed the Chief Psychiatrist at the Medical Center of his reasons for not wanting to submit to the examinations, and that he knew they would reveal negligible, if any, brain damage.

Shortly thereafter, petitioner received a letter from counsel which stated that if he did not cooperate with the doctors and take all of the examinations they requested of him, the court could issue an order that he remain there until he did.

Thereupon, petitioner agreed to undergo all examinations requested of him by the medical authorities, including an EEG test, Skull X-Rays, and a series of psychological tests.

TWENTY-FOURTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS That petitioner cooperated in taking a series of psychological tests and an electroencephalographic (EEG) test and Skull X-Rays out of fear that the court would order him to remain at the U. S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners until he did; that such fear was based on the contents of the aforesaid letter received from counsel; that counsel's letter was patently intimidating and coercive; that as the result of submitting to the aforesaid series of psychological tests and the EEG test, no evidence of brain damage was discovered; that such finding was included in a report of psychiatric examination, a copy of which was furnished the United States Attorney prosecuting petitioner's case; that such finding was used as evidence by the prosecution against petitioner at his second trial on the merits; that such evidence was instrumental in dissipating the so-called "newly discovered evidence" raised by the defense as ~~part of~~ a crucial issue at the second trial on the merits; that the dissipation of such evidence was a decisive factor in procuring the conviction of petitioner at said trial; that by the foregoing, in part and as a whole, petitioner was compelled to be a witness against himself at his second trial on the merits.

On or about July 9, 1966, petitioner departed the U. S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners. He was returned to El Paso via a circuitous route, and with some delay. While enroute, and on a stopover at the Bexar County Jail, San Antonio, Texas, he was attacked, struck in the head, and injured without provocation or just cause by Mr. R. P. Coballero, a uniformed deputy sheriff of the Bexar County Sheriff's Department, on duty in the jail. The attack took place on July 11, 1966, and was witnessed by a number of persons not herein identified; later, his injuries were examined by a number of persons not herein identified. Petitioner, after the assault and battery, aforesaid, was then taken to a room out of view of witnesses and threatened and assaulted and manhandled by Mr. M.S. Trump, a deputy sheriff of the Bexar County Sheriff's Department, then wearing civilian clothes. Petitioner was thereafter, on the same date, placed in solitary confinement. He was refused medical examination or treatment. Later, the same day, he was visited by Acting Chief Deputy ~~Marshal~~ U.S. Marshal Jack Graves who ordered petitioner be removed to the jail's hospital ward ~~after~~ petitioner complained of the swelling in his forehead and ~~other~~ ~~parts~~ ~~of~~ ~~his~~ ~~body~~.

Hospital. Mr. Brown told pattern to take it easy; that "we are doing our best to get you into a state hospital as you wish here to stand trial," or words similar and to that effect. Whanger, pattern exclaimed he did not want to enter a state hospital, that he would go to trial, that he did just now feel mentally competent to stand trial, and that if anybody tried to force him committed to a state hospital he was going to fight it all the way. Despite his repeated requests, pattern received no medical examination or treatment whatsoever until two days later, even though he was in the jail's hospital ward and even though a nurse, Mrs. Willie Byers, was on duty during the daytime. He was in fact still incarcerated during the period July 14, 1968 through July 15, 1968, in that he was not permitted to phone any attorney in contact with the relatives. When the jail doctor, a Dr. Robinson, finally examined him (through the bars of the cell, and by shining a flashlight in his face), pattern could truly see out of his left eye and the swelling on his forehead had increased considerably. Today, pattern was given two aspirins by a family.

On July 17, 1968, Mrs. Juan Beeth, "the day shift State Marshal for the Division District of Texas, small pattern, and, in the presence of Brown County Deputy Sheriff E. E. Hornum and another person not known to pattern, the pattern to fight about what had happened "here," that "we're going to see you come go to a state hospital," or words similar and to that effect. Whanger, pattern gave him substantially the same answer he had given Mr. Brown three days before.

On July 18, 1968, pattern was hospitalized by a doctor at 11:30 a.m.

Very yours,

On July 21, 1964, counsel, Mr. Cohen, would question. Patton advised
to know what had taken him "so long to get here," that he had asked to see
him completely upon his arrival at the jail, and that he had been "booked
over" at San Antonio. Patton then advised counsel of what had occurred in
the Bexar County jail. He would that counsel make arrangements for him to
file criminal complaints against Mr. R. F. Collier, Mr. W. S. Thompson and the
Bexar County Jail Captain, Mr. Nelson S. Joseph. Also, he informed counsel of what
Mr. Moore and Mr. White had stated to him at San Antonio, and his response
there. Counsel would answer Patton's questions and demand to pay little
attention to his complaints and requests. He said the government intended to
disprove the charges against Patton and file a motion that he be committed
early by other authorities to a Texas state mental institution, and that there
was nothing he could do about it. He advised that Patton not ignore the
circumstances. Moreover, Patton became angry and told counsel he was still
representing him without the authorization and against his will, that he had
just been found mentally competent to stand trial, that there were already in
evidence of his insanity here to trial, and that if there ever had existed any
real doubts about his competency to stand trial, it should have been resolved
long before he came out to Springfield in April. Patton stated that counsel
and Mr. Grant and the prosecution "knew damn well" he had been found
mentally competent to stand trial before he came out to Springfield, that he had
been determined mentally competent to stand trial before he had been released from
Hockanville, and that all counsel had been furnished a medical report to that
effect. Patton emphasized to counsel that his conviction had been secured
with understandings that he would find the grand jury in the evidence, and that

the same thing should be quickly found. He stated that "some hell or high water" he was going to stand firm even if he had "to set in jail," and that "the facts are going to come out." He still seemed to intend to appear any attempt by the State of Texas to stop him. The case end commit him to a state hospital, and that he would still see attorney specifically for that purpose: Whumpers, 701. Calman became angry and stated that the court's order of April 7, 1966, was still in effect and that he would not allow another attorney to appear for commitment.

On July 22, 1966, petition was visited by counsel, Mr. Calman, and two F.B.I. agents, Mr. Richard H. Bisher and Mr. Robert W. Abington. Later in the day, petition gave three agents a signed statement concerning the incidents at the Brown County Jail and the names of the persons involved, including the names of some (but not all) witnesses. On advice of Mr. Bisher, no reference to Mr. Little or his committee to petition was made in the statement. Bittner was reassured "around" that if the same grand jury, the U.S. Attorney would take appropriate action, because there had been other complaints about the conduct of grand jury "in that jail." Mr. Bisher said that the matter would be investigated by the San Antonio Office of the F.B.I. Bittner was never apprised of the results, if any, of the investigation, nor was he ever questioned further on the matter.

On July 24, 1966, Mr. Joseph P. Henshaw, a psychiatrist, signed petition form by Brown County, made problems and allegedly to persuade him to sign an statement saying that he would voluntarily give a statement concerning the incident.

Report: Bittner signed the statement on committee advice of Mr. Henshaw, and that signed statement to approval of Bittner's committee.

words similar and to that effect.

On July 25, 1966, petitioner wrote a note to Mr. Raymond O' Bourke, Captain of the Jail Division, El Paso County Sheriff's Department, citing his stand in the matter aforesaid, and mentioning that he did not wish to speak to Mr. Hruscher again if he should visit the jail.

On July 28, 1966, petitioner received a letter from counsel, Mr. Calamia (dated July 27, 1966), stating that the United States Attorney at El Paso had advised him the charges pending against petitioner would be dismissed. Earlier, counsel had advised petitioner he would be taken to the El Paso County Court after the charges were dismissed, and committed to a state hospital.

On the same date, July 28, 1966, petitioner wrote a lengthy letter to the Honorable T. C. Johnson, presiding judge of the El Paso County Court, who handled said commitments, telling him of his stand in the matter aforesaid, that he intended to oppose any such commitment, and that he had just been found mentally competent to stand trial at the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners. Petitioner received no answer to his letter, but he was told by Captain O' Bourke that it had been delivered to the judge and that the judge had read it.

On August 1, 1966, counsel, Mr. Calamia, visited petitioner and interviewed him in Captain O' Bourke's office, in the presence of Captain O' Bourke. Counsel literally surrounded petitioner, repeatedly, and emphasized that if he stood trial again in El Paso he would be convicted. He said there was absolutely no chance of him winning an acquittal for petitioner because of the prejudice that prevailed against petitioner "in this area". Counsel advised that instead of standing trial petitioner should allow himself to be committed to a state hospital. Counsel said he would arrange to have petitioner transported to a hospital.

Administration hospital. Captain O'Rourke interrupted the conversation that he thought petitioner was convicted at his first trial because of "the Kennedy assassination." Petitioner again refused to agree to submit to any such commitment. He said that since it appeared he was "stuffed to" counsel, he wanted a change of venue because of what counsel had stated about him being convicted on prejudice if he stood trial in El Paso. Whereupon, counsel said he did not think he could obtain a change of venue. Petitioner insisted that he try. Counsel flatly refused to make application for a change of venue. He threatened that if petitioner persisted in not following his advice, he would "send me back in Springfield." Counsel said, "How would you like that?" Petitioner then asked Captain O'Rourke to remember what counsel had stated throughout the interview, and walked out of the office.

The following day, August 2, 1966, counsel, Mr. Calmes, again visited petitioner and interviewed him in Captain O'Rourke's office in Captain O'Rourke's presence. Again, he warned repeatedly and emphasized that petitioner would be convicted if he stood trial in El Paso. He again, he flatly refused to seek a change of venue. He said that if petitioner did not follow his advice and submit to a commitment in a state hospital, the judge was going to send him back to Springfield for "not cooperating." Petitioner became angry and stated that counsel was threatening him. Counsel replied that he was not threatening, that he was "promising." And, again, petitioner asked Captain O'Rourke to remember what counsel had said throughout the interview. Counsel then departed to get Captain O'Rourke called petitioner.

On August 4, 1966, counsel, Mr. Cahoon, again visited petitioner and again interviewed him in Captain O'Rourke's office. Whereupon, Captain O'Rourke, after several minutes, stated he did not want to become "involved in this thing," and left his office. In brief, the same advice and threats referred in the preceding paragraphs filled the conversation. Again, counsel warned repeatedly and emphasized that petitioner would be convicted on prejudice if he stood trial in El Paso. Again, he flatly refused to ask the court for a change of venue upon petitioner's insistence he do so. Petitioner stated to Captain O'Rourke, in counsel's presence, as he was about to return to his tanks, that he did not want to see or speak to counsel again if he should visit the jail.

On August 3, 1966, petitioner writes to the United States Department of Justice complaining that his rights as a defendant in a criminal case were being violated, that he was being intimidated by his court-appointed counsel to submit to civil commitment in a mental institution in lieu of standing trial, that he had just been found mentally competent to stand trial after intensive psychiatric examination at the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisoners, that he was being denied a speedy trial, that he was being denied the right to retain effective legal representation, that he was being denied the right to seek a change of venue even though his court-appointed counsel had told him he would be convicted on prejudice if he went to trial in El Paso, and, lastly, that he felt he was being deprived of all these basic rights because the government wanted to keep him from testifying about his connection with a conspiracy to murder President Kennedy.

it was needed.

On August 9, 1966, petitioner was told by a judge that counsel, Mr. Balke, wanted to speak to him. Petitioner was taken to an interview room where both Mr. Balke and Mr. Calamia were waiting. ^{Petitioner} He informed Mr. Calamia that he had nothing to discuss with him and that he did not care to listen to anything he might have to say to petitioner. Whereupon, Mr. Balke asked petitioner to sit down, which he did reluctantly. Mr. Calamia did most of the talking. The substance of what he said was the same as what he stated on August 1, August 2, and August 4, 1966, although he was less rancorous and demanding. Petitioner remained adamant in wanting a trial and in requesting a change of venue.

TWENTY-FIFTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That the Report of Psychiatric Staff Examination dated June 13, 1966 and the Report of Psychiatric Examination dated June 17, 1966, rendered on petitioner at the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisons, and copies thereof which were submitted to the seating court and furnished the United States Attorney at El Paso and court-appointed counsel, contained the following excerpts (transcribed verbatim):

- (1) "The findings support an adjudication of competence to stand trial."
- (2) "Although competency at the time of the alleged crime has not been requested (comprised added), an opinion will also be offered in this report."
- (3) "With reference to the question of mental competency at the time of the alleged crime, the patient is judged to have been not mentally competent at the time of the alleged crime. This opinion was arrived at using the criteria for clinical responsibility that was used by the U.S. District Court of El Paso in the case of [redacted] et al. vs. [redacted]."

(4) "This patient is judged to be competent to stand trial. He knows what he is accused of and can account for his movements and he knows that the court views the act as a crime no matter what his own view may be. He further knows in some realistic measure the kind of trouble he can get into if found guilty; and, finally, it is felt that he can cooperate with and assist counsel within reasonable limits (emphasis added). His examiner is aware of Nagell's history of failure to cooperate in the past. However, the type of cooperation that he has displayed during his present hospitalization at the U. S. Medical Center resolves any doubt I may have had on this score."

(5) "The electroencephalographic report indicated that it was within limits of normal variation."

(6) "Psychological testing failed to show any evidence of an active psychotic process or show any evidence of an impairment suggestive of a cortical brain damage."

(7) "I can point out that on the basis of my examination and my laboratory findings including an EEG and psychological testing that I did not find any evidence or finding suggestive of brain damage."

(8) "The final paragraph of the psychological report states that little or nothing would be gained for society or for Nagell by continued incarceration in a penal institution."

(9) "RECOMMENDATIONS: As indicated above, Nagell displays some manifestations of a personality pattern disturbance which, if he is to be rehabilitated and returned to a place of responsibility would appear to require..."

TWENTY-FIFTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION (CONTINUED): That the foregoing excerpts listed as (1), (4) and (9) should be considered when evaluating the attempts by the government and court-appointed counsel to have petitioner committed to a state mental institution in lieu of standing trial; that excerpts (2) and (3) should be considered specifically in the light of the sentencing judge's purported promise to petitioner, as alleged to petitioner on April 19, 1966, by Chief U.S. Marshal James Hobbie; that excerpts (5), (6) and (7) should be considered when weighing all allegations herein pertaining to the "brain damage" issue; that excerpt (8) should be considered in the light of petitioner's sentence to the maximum penalty of ten years, his incarceration in Leavenworth Penitentiary, and his continued denial of parole.

TWENTY-SIXTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That on July 29, 1966, the government, in collusion with court-appointed counsel, and for wrongful purposes, made a motion before the sentencing court to dismiss the charges pending against petitioner and have him committed by Texas state authorities to a Texas state mental institution in lieu of standing trial; that such action by the government was initiated in the face of its cognizance of a then recent psychiatric report submitted on petitioner which supported a judicial determination of his competency to stand trial and ^{contained} an expert medical opinion of six psychiatrists that he was mentally competent to stand trial; that such action by the government was for the express ^{initiated} purpose of having petitioner removed from testifying at his trial and for impugning testimony he might give in the future regarding the government's ^{initiated} withholding of evidence essential to his rightful defense and ~~petitioner's~~ ^{petitioner's} conspiracy to murder a former Chief Executive of the United States; that when the government's motion was denied on July 29, 1966, petitioner ~~was~~ ^{was} ~~to~~ ^{to} be ~~committed~~ ^{committed} and covered by his court-appointed

counsel to submit to a such commitment in a Texas state hospital in lieu of standing trial; that petitioner was told by counsel if he would agree to such a commitment the judge would not require that he stand trial; that such intimidation and coercion (adduced in preceding general allegations) was with wrongful purpose and was effected with the knowledge and encouragement of the government and others not herein identified; that such actions by counsel were unwarranted and demonstrated ineptness, ineffectiveness and misconduct on the part of counsel, in that petitioner well explained his stand before the court and had the lawful right to stand trial for the offense charged against him; that counsel's actions, abetted by the government, during the period July 27, 1960 through August 10, 1960, and prior thereto and afterwards, caused undue mental anguish and hardship on petitioner and his relatives; that by all the foregoing and the facts contained in other related allegations, and by additional evidence which will be produced at any hearing on this cause, the government in collusion with court-appointed counsel ^{unlawfully} ~~unlawfully~~ usurped petitioner's right of due process and deprived him of a speedy trial.

TWENTY-SEVENTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That counsel, Mr. Coleman, by design and for his own purpose, or for purpose unknown to petitioner, denied petitioner his lawful right to seek a change of venue for his second trial in the county; that had such change of venue been applied for and granted, petitioner would have stood trial in another district and hence, conceivably, might have been acquitted; that had such change of venue been applied for and refused, petitioner would, under the circumstances alleged by counsel and others, have been provided additional and substantial grounds on which to base an appeal from conviction.

On August 17, 1966, after counsel again visited petitioner, Mr. Colman said that the judge was not going to write any orders for petitioner to change his mind, that the case was called for September 19, 1966, and that he would cause his office to have petitioner "accept commitments" in a state hospital. He stated he would see petitioner's case "through to the end" if he would cooperate in the defense of insanity. Petitioner indicated this agreement to mean counsel would again appear if he were convicted. Mr. Colman said there was the possibility he could win an acquittal if he could show the jury that petitioner was presently insane. Petitioner replied that if counsel tried to do that he would not cooperate, ^{at all,} that he would ^{personally} object to ^{the} introduction of such a theme. Whereupon, after much argument, counsel agreed not to pursue this proposed aspect of his defense. He stated that he would only prove that petitioner was insane at the time of the alleged offense. Petitioner insisted that counsel attempt to have the Springfield psychiatric reports admitted into evidence after counsel had advised that he did not think he could get them introduced, "because the government will object." Petitioner asked why the government would object to "its own evidence" being shown the jury. Counsel said he could not afford to permit petitioner to testify, that he was "too damn clever and might destroy your defense," or words similar and to that effect. Petitioner answered that he surely intended to testify and that for once he was going to see that the truth came out. He said he was also going to testify about the "sewing crowd" he felt he had been getting for these years. Whereupon, counsel became incensed and was stated that if petitioner testified to "anything the judge doesn't like" that he (the judge) would stop the trial and send petitioner back to Springfield. Whereupon, petitioner became angry and told counsel that he was threatening him.

again, that counsel wanted to win his case ~~subject~~, but that he wanted to win it on the ~~prosecution's~~ terms. Petitioner said, "I'm not going to go along with the program," that ~~surprised~~ ~~he~~ ~~was~~ ~~concerned~~ ~~counsel~~ ~~had~~ ~~been~~ "sleeping with the H. S. Attorney" ^{ever} ~~since~~ ~~he~~ ~~entered~~ ~~petitioner's~~ ~~case~~. He said that "you people" stuffed the space of insanity down "my throat" before his first trial and that "come hell or high water" he was going to tell the truth at his second trial. Counsel replied that petitioner was cutting off his nose to spite his face. He asked petitioner if he wanted to end up back in Leavenworth.

On August 21, 1964, petitioner wrote a letter to Judge Tuttle of the sentencing court, describing his situation in detail and complaining of counsel's conduct. The letter was mailed on August 24, 1964, and petitioner received an acknowledgment of receipt from the Court Clerk, but no answer to his letter.

Meanwhile, petitioner had written to his sister and requested that she visit him. On September 7, 1964, she and her husband visited him in the El Paso County Jail. Petitioner advised them that it looked like he was going "to be railroaded again". He gave his sister a hand-written dissertation, perhaps thirty pages in length, containing part of his "proposed testimony", and said that at some occasions that he had not finished it because he knew "they're not going to let me testify". He explained his situation to her in detail.

The second trial on the merits began on September 19, 1966. Immediately prior thereto, a brief sanity hearing was held at which the court adjudicated petitioner mentally competent to stand trial. After the trial got underway, the government elected to try petitioner on one count only of the indictment, that of "entering the house with intent to commit a felony." Petitioner alleges that during the presentation of the government's case, it was never clearly spelled out to the jury what this felony was supposed to be; that in the minds of the jurors it may very well have consisted of something other than intent to set travelers checks.

Petitioner also alleges that the jury was never informed that the discharge of a firearm on property subject to federal jurisdiction was not a felony, and that it should have been so informed. Petitioner further alleges that throughout the trial, the jury, having heard both counts of the indictment read, was led to believe that he was being tried for both "intent" and "attempt," and that it was not informed until the moment it was charged that he was in fact being tried only for "intent."

Through intimidation and coercion by court-appointed counsel and others not herein identified, petitioner did not testify. Nor did any F.B.I. agents testify, despite counsel's promise to petitioner that Mr. Thomas H. White, Jr., and Mr. Edward J. Murphy would be put on the stand, and that they would be questioned about certain of petitioner's ^{allegations.}

Again, the defense raised was insanity or mental incompetency, and it was raised against petitioner's will. Despite petitioner's insistence to counsel, and counsel's promise that he would do so, no attempt whatsoever was made to have the Springfield psychiatric reports submitted into evidence. Petitioner alleges that it was until the defense raised such reports ^{be} considered by the jury during deliberations, ^{the} ~~from the~~ ^{because the} criteria for criminal responsibility ^{as} used by the court itself was ^{clearly} ~~clearly~~ ^{adduced} in such reports. Petitioner also alleges that the well-known ~~rule~~ ^{rule} ~~that~~ ^{that}

^{he}
petitioner's commitment was depicted and precisely answered in the psychiatric
reports of ~~the court~~, and that testimony by defense witnesses did not touch upon this
subject. Petitioner alleges, in view of the well-circulated rumors that he was a
convict and other related and prejudicial issues carried by the news media throughout
the year preceding his second trial on the merits, that the rumors and prejudicial
issues were material to his cause and should have been argued in open court and
settled once and for all; for it is, petitioner alleges, naive to think that such
rumors and issues did not hang ^{heavily} in the minds of the jurors. In this regard,
petitioner alleges that while the issue of "insanity" was ~~successfully~~ suppressed by both
the prosecution and the defense (against petitioner's will) from the trial record, it was
not deleted from the minds of the jurors, and that, as will be seen, a ^{prejudicial} ~~prejudicial~~
comment by a prosecution witness did ~~in fact~~ ^{in fact} ~~raise~~ ^{re-raise} ~~the issue~~ ^{the issue} once again during the
trial without objection or substantial protest by ~~court-appointed~~ counsel.

The jury was charged on September 23, 1966, and four days later it
returned a verdict of guilty.

TWENTY-EIGHTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That petitioner was not brought
to trial until over eight months past the date that the appellate court instructed a
new trial be granted; that at the time of petitioner's release from Leavenworth
Penitentiary and return to El Paso in February 1966, it had already been determined by
competent and qualified medical authority that petitioner was mentally competent to stand trial;
that an official report setting forth expert medical opinion was submitted to the court on or
about February 17, 1966; that by the approval and the facts contained in the general
and specific allegations germane to this issue, and by additional evidence which will
be presented at any hearing on the petitioner's petition, petitioner was denied a speedy

TWENTY-NINTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That certain members of the jury at the second trial on the merits, shall accede in the bank on which petitioner was alleged to have intended to commit a felony; that no substantial inquiry was conducted into this matter by the presiding judge when he questioned the jury panel and/or the selected members of the jury; that over petitioner's ~~repeated~~ protest to court-appointed counsel, counsel offered no objection whatsoever to having such persons sit on the jury, nor did he question the jury panel or the selected members of the jury at all on this matter, nor did he utilize any peremptory or other challenge to bar such persons from serving on the jury; that although almost every juror claimed they had heard about petitioner's case from various sources, and despite the fact petitioner's alleged political views were and had been well-circulated throughout El Paso and vicinity, neither the presiding judge nor court-appointed counsel conducted any inquiry of the jury panel or the selected members of the jury to ascertain whether such alleged political views would influence their ability to render a just verdict; that by the foregoing, in part or as a whole, and by other evidence and testimony which will be presented at any hearing on this petition, there existed discrimination in the selection of the jury at petitioner's second trial on the merits.

THIRTIETH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That through intimidation and coercion by court-appointed counsel and others not herein identified, petitioner was forced to accept, cooperate in, and abide by the defense of insanity or mental incompetency at his second trial on the merits; that such defense was contrary and repugnant to the truth and inconsistent with and opposed to the facts in his case; that by the foregoing, in part or as a whole, petitioner was deprived of a fair and impartial trial.

THIRTY-FIRST SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That through intimidation and coercion by court-appointed counsel and others not herein identified, and only as a result of such intimidation and coercion, petitioner did not testify at his second trial on the merits; that evidence fundamental, vital and crucial to petitioner's rightful defense against the crime alleged was withheld and/or suppressed, against petitioner's will, by the Federal Bureau of Investigation, another agency of the United States Government, not herein identified, and court-appointed counsel before and at his second trial on the merits; that by the foregoing, in part or as a whole, petitioner was precluded from seeing the truth in his cause, and was deprived of a fair and impartial trial.

THIRTY-SECOND SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That through intimidation of by court-appointed counsel and through coercion of others not herein identified, and only because of such intimidation and coercion, petitioner did not ask the court before his second trial on the merits to subpoena certain witnesses and records crucial to his rightful defense against the crime alleged; that by the foregoing, in part or as a whole, petitioner was denied the right to subpoena witnesses and records in the case.

THIRTY-THIRD SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That false and misleading testimony was admitted into evidence by the court at the instance of court-appointed counsel; that counsel knew then, before, and ever later that such testimony was untrue; that false and misleading documentation was admitted into evidence by the court at the instance of court-appointed counsel; that counsel knew then, before, and ever later that such documentation was misleading and not representative of what was actually prepared by a party; that counsel's actions in requesting the court to admit such testimony and documentation were a denial of justice.

defense of insanity or mental incompetency; that petitioner himself explained to counsel and another person not herein identified, before the second trial on the merits, that the aforesaid documentation was spurious and misleading and what its contents actually represented; that petitioner told counsel and another person not herein identified, before the second trial on the merits, that under no circumstances or for any reason did he want the aforesaid documentation introduced into evidence; that by the foregoing, in part, petitioner's right to due fair and misleading documentation from the eyes of the jury was circumvented by court-appointed counsel.

THIRTY-FOURTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That on prosecution witness, Ed Pace Civil Affairs James Bombar, perjured himself when testifying for the government at the second trial on the merits when he stated "I saw photographs of restricted military installations" in petitioner's belongings at the time of his arrest; that the prosecution and Mr. Bombar knew such testimony to be false; that such testimony was highly inflammatory and unduly prejudicial to petitioner; that counsel made no objection whatsoever to the introduction of such testimony; that counsel offered no substantial content to dispute or refute such testimony on direct or cross-examination; that counsel did in fact emphasize this perjured testimony during his ^{to the jury} ~~cross-examination~~ ^{cross-examination}; that petitioner himself could have disputed such testimony had he been permitted to testify; that one Phil Spat present in the federal building could have refuted such testimony had he been called as a witness; that another person not herein identified who was present in the courtroom could have refuted such testimony; that another person available nearby who could have refuted such testimony and who was willing to take the stand in petitioner's behalf, was not called as a witness despite petitioner's insistence to counsel that he be so called; that by the foregoing, coupled with the known fact that petitioner was a communist, the prejudicial issue of "ingratitude"

was sneaked into the trial by the government without challenge or serious
contest by the defense, and left hanging in an already contaminated atmosphere.

THIRTY-FIFTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That court-appointed counsel,
by propounding a calumnious and leading question on direct examination ^{of a witness,}
raised an issue which neither added to nor detracted from the defense of
insanity; that such question was not objected to by the government; that such
question and issue raised was stressed in the trial record and was brought
forth by counsel for the express purpose of impeaching testimony and discrediting
allegations petitioner might conceivably voice in the future; that petitioner
wanted to object to such question and issue raised ^{as being} ~~unproper~~ irrelevant, and
untrue; that petitioner wanted to object to other questions and issues raised
by ^{both the defense and} the government as being improperly propounded and immaterial; that before the
trial, counsel had warned petitioner if he himself objected to any testimony,
questions, or issues raised by either side, the judge would stop the trial
and "recommit you to Springfield"; that out of fear of this happening, petitioner
voiced no objections whatsoever throughout the trial; that during the trial and
recess, court-appointed counsel refused to confer with petitioner or heed his
protests about the conduct of the trial; that by the foregoing, in part or as a
whole, petitioner was denied the lawful right to seek redress from the court and
challenge or protest any and all evidence presented at his trial, and was thus
deprived of a fair trial.

The day following his conviction, September 27, 1944, petitioner was taken
to the court for sentencing. Both counsel were present. The judge, the
honorable Loren W. Suttle, indicated that a pre-sentencing inquiry was necessary
and the petition report submitted on petitioner.

first conviction in 1964, and that it would suffice. Counsel offered nothing in mitigation or extenuation. Mr. Colman advised petitioner not to say anything when the judge granted him his ^{privilege} ~~privileges~~ of allocution. He said if petitioner remained silent and indicated no complaints or voiced no objections, the judge would probably put him on probation. In view of such advice, and only because of such advice, petitioner replied in the negative when the judge asked him if he had anything to say before sentencing. Whereupon, petitioner was sentenced to the maximum penalty of ten years without probation or any part thereof ~~suspended~~ ^{suspended}.

Notice of intention to appeal was furnished the court by counsel. During an interview at the jail, counsel, Mr. Colman, ~~stated~~ stated that he knew he was going to have to "win" the case on appeal. Petitioner replied, "Where have I heard that before?" Counsel said he would try to have petitioner's conviction reversed without ~~not~~ ^{him} being remanded for a third trial. He added, "But you will probably have to go to a mental institution" because, as he indicated, there would be a federal law passed by the time petitioner's conviction was reversed that would make his commitment mandatory in view of the danger of insanity.

Shortly thereafter, petitioner wrote a letter to the United States Attorney General, electing not to begin serving his sentence pending outcome of appeal from his second conviction. He asked Captain O'Donoghue to send this letter by registered mail. Counsel, Mr. Colman, later told petitioner that he could no longer elect not to begin serving his sentence pending appeal, that the law had changed. When petitioner inquired that counsel initiate legal action to keep him on Ed now pending appeal, that he spend his return to Levensworth and that he was kind of being shipped for piece to piece, counsel answered, "I would not want to do that."

Shortly thereafter, petitioner visited counsel, Mr. Colman, to submit a motion requesting that an appeal bond be set, informing him that friends were willing to post such a bond up to the amount of \$50,000.00. Counsel vehemently objected. Petitioner insisted. Whereupon, counsel stated that the government would oppose the setting of any bond in petitioner's case on the grounds that he "planned to skip the country." Petitioner then insisted that counsel ~~request~~ request a hearing on the matter, and that he be permitted to testify and produce evidence that he had no such intentions and had made no such plans, that the government's assumption was incorrect. Counsel agreed that he would do so, and that he would appeal if petitioner was denied bond.

On October 29, 1966, petitioner was transported by automobile to the U.S. Penitentiary at Leavenworth, Kansas. During the first day of the trip, Deputy U.S. Marshal Jean Johnson informed petitioner that the motion for setting of bond had been denied, and that there had been a hearing on the matter in ^{San Antonio} San Antonio. Petitioner alleges he was unlawfully denied from attending, testifying and presenting evidence in his behalf at the aforesaid hearing. (In January 1967, petitioner received a letter from counsel which advised that the appellate court would not consider his appeal on denial of bond until it had reviewed the trial record, and that there would be a delay since he had been granted an extension of time in which to file the appeal from conviction. Petitioner alleges he has received no further information or advisement regarding either appeal).

On October 31, 1966, petitioner visited Leavenworth Penitentiary. On December 9, 1966, during an interview by the Caseworker or Parole Officer, the ~~caseworker~~ caseworker asked numerous questions about the offense alleged, the ~~facts~~ facts of the crime, and his appeal in ~~the~~ ~~case~~ case.

these areas, notwithstanding prior and current records in his possession which would supply him with any data he needed concerning petitioner's case history.

Petitioner was asked many other questions unrelated to his care and custody, such as, "Where did you know Lee Harvey Oswald?" and "Why is the Secret Service interested in you?" Petitioner refused to answer questions of this nature. Finally, Mr. Volkow told petitioner "We are sending you to Springfield for treatment."

The same day petitioner complained to the Associate Warden for Custody, Mr. Charles E. Harris, that he was being asked questions by his Parole Officer that he did not feel he was required to answer, that he had told Mr. Volkow he would answer no more questions, and that Mr. Volkow had told him he was going to be sent to Springfield "for treatment." Petitioner said that if he were to be returned to Springfield, he might as well be put over in "Building 63." Whereupon, petitioner was placed on "locked-status" in C-Cellhouse. Two signs reading "Off Limits" were situated on each side of his cell. For the rest of the time he spent in Jessup, no inmates were permitted to converse with him, nor was he allowed to talk to other inmates. He was subjected to numerous "staple-downs" and other unwarranted petty harassment, and accompanied by a guard whenever he went to the mess hall.

On December ^{12,} 1966, petitioner wrote a letter to Mr. John Rice of the Civil Rights Division, U.S. Department of Justice, mentioning that he was a prisoner on appeal, and complaining of his questioning by Mr. Volkow and the conditions of his confinement to the U.S. Federal Prison for Men at Jessup, Maryland.

Thereafter, he received an answer to his letter from the Bureau of Prisons, which advised that since his case was on appeal, "you will not be subject to punishment because you did not wish to discuss it in these circumstances." The letter also stated that the matter of his transfer to the Medical Center for Federal Prisons at Springfield was "not one which is open to appeal."

On December 21, 1966, Mr. Harris, ADAC, asked petitioner if he would like to be taken off Lockup-Status and go to work in the library the following Tuesday. Petitioner replied that he would. Whereupon, Mr. Harris stated petitioner would be taken off Lockup-Status "this evening." But petitioner remained on Lockup-Status until February 2, 1967, without any explanation, or ever seeing from Mr. Harris again. On that date he was transported to the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisons for the third time in three years. The day before he departed Leavenworth, Mr. Volkman told petitioner that actually he was being sent to Springfield in preparation for release on parole, that if petitioner would cooperate in answering questions he would probably be "out loose in a couple of months."

Several days after entering the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisons, which petitioner alleges is in every sense of the phrase a maximum security penal institution (regardless of what else it may represent), he was moved to a maximum security ward, where he is presently housed. During any and all periods of confinement at this institution, petitioner has never been given medication ~~or~~ or undergone any semblance of "treatment," nor has he ever seen or heard of either.

On February 7, 1967, the Chief of the Neuro-psychiatric Service, Dr.

Joseph F. Alderton, who is assigned as petitioner's doctor, told him it was "not clear" why he had been returned to Springfield. Petitioner advised he had not been interviewed by the prison psychiatrist at Leavenworth, Dr. H. Wayne Blotfelty, prior to his transfer, notwithstanding that he had asked an MTA, Mr. Winkler, on two occasions in February 1967 to tell Dr. Blotfelty that he wanted to speak with him about his pending transfer to Springfield. Mr. Winkler had informed petitioner he had relayed his message to Dr. Blotfelty.

On February 9, 1967, or during the succeeding week, petitioner was told by the Director of the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisons, Dr. Pasquale J. Accione, in reply to his query as to why he had been sent back to Springfield, that "We don't rightly know."

Petitioner alleges that a recent psychiatric report submitted on him by the Chief Psychiatrist at Springfield, opines that psychiatric treatment "is not essential" to petitioner's "rehabilitation" or adjustment in life.

On April 19, 1967, petitioner received written notification, dated five days earlier, that his application for parole had been "continued for an Institutional Review hearing in January 1969." In 1965, while at Leavenworth, he had received the same type of notification that his parole eligibility date had been continued for consideration in October 1966. Petitioner cites that both his prior and current sentence were imposed pursuant to Section 4207 (a) (2), Title 18, United States Code, Annotated. He alleges that consideration for parole, or a back stamp, or the refusal to grant him parole in the name of expediency, or any other reason, should be granted parole, or any other reason.

depose against the same charges, outside of a court of law and without the presence of ~~opposing~~ legal counsel. Petitioner further alleges that previously at the U.S. Medical Center for Federal Prisons he was questioned about the circumstances under which he met and knew Mr. Lee H. Oswald, the accused assassin of President Kennedy, about his alleged affiliation with an unpopular political party, about his political beliefs, and about his employment and activities during the period 1962-1963. Petitioner alleges he was coerced into answering such questions in that he was told by the examining physician that such questions had to be asked and answered in order "for us to make a proper evaluation of your mental condition and /or your competency to stand trial", or words similar and to that effect. On his present regimen at Springfield petitioner has advised the officials concerned that he has no intention of answering any questions which do not fall strictly within the purview of his care and custody.

On May 19, 1967, petitioner was told by the Chief of the Neuropsychiatric Service that he will be returned to Lewis and Clark Penitentiary on or about June 12, 1967.

THIRTY-SIXTH SPECIFIC ALLEGATION: That by all the foregoing general and specific allegations, in part or as a whole, petitioner has been deprived of due process of the law.

WHEREFORE, petitioner moves and prays that this Honorable Court will consider all allegations contained herein as material and supporting to his Petition For Writ Of Habeas Corpus.

SO PETITIONER EVER WILL PRAY.

Richard C. Nagell

Signature of Petitioner

} SS

RICHARD CASE NAGELL, being first duly sworn under oath, presents that he has subscribed to the foregoing Memorandum In Support Of Petition For Writ Of Habeas Corpus and does state that the information therein is true and correct to the best of his knowledge and belief.

Richard C. Nagell

Signature of Affiant

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN to before me this 6th day of January, 1967. (Month) (Year)

William R. Martin

WILLIAM R. MARTIN
Notary Public, Parish of Orleans, State of La.
My Commission is dated for life.

My commission expires

(Month) Day Year